

Affinity Water Taking care of your water

# Thames to Affinity Transfer SRO

Technical Supporting Document Ca Drinking Water Quality Risk Assessment Report Lower Thames Reservoir Option

#### Notice

#### **Position Statement**

- This document has been produced as the part of the process set out by RAPID for the development of the Strategic Resource Options (SROs). This is a regulatory gated process allowing there to be control and appropriate scrutiny on the activities that are undertaken by the water companies to investigate and develop efficient solutions on behalf of customers to meet future drought resilience challenges.
- This report forms part of suite of documents that make up the 'Gate 2 submission.' That submission details all the work undertaken by Thames Water and Affinity Water in the ongoing development of the proposed SROs. The intention of this stage is to provide RAPID with an update on the concept design, feasibility, cost estimates and programme for the schemes, allowing decisions to be made on their progress and future funding requirements.
- Should a scheme be selected and confirmed in the companies' final Water Resources Management Plan, in most cases it would need to enter a separate process to gain permission to build and run the final solution. That could be through either the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or the Planning Act 2008 development consent order process. Both options require the designs to be fully appraised and in most cases, an environmental statement to be produced. Where required that statement sets out the likely environmental impacts and what mitigation is required.
- Community and stakeholder engagement is crucial to the development of the SROs. Some high level activity has been undertaken to date. Much more detailed community engagement and formal consultation is required on all the schemes at the appropriate point. Before applying for permission Thames Water and Affinity Water will need to demonstrate that they have presented information about the proposals to the community, gathered feedback and considered the views of stakeholders. We will have regard to that feedback and, where possible, make changes to the designs as a result.
- The SROs are at a very early stage of development, despite some options having been considered for several years. The details set out in the Gate 2 documents are still at a formative stage and consideration should be given to that when reviewing the proposals. They are for the purposes of allocating further funding not seeking permission.

#### Disclaimer

This document has been written in line with the requirements of the RAPID Gate 2 Guidance and to comply with the regulatory process pursuant to Thames Water's and Affinity Water's statutory duties. The information presented relates to material or data which is still in the course of completion. Should the solution presented in this document be taken forward, Thames Water and Affinity Water will be subject to the statutory duties pursuant to the necessary consenting process, including environmental assessment and consultation as required. This document should be read with those duties in mind.

### Contents

N	otice		1-2
C	ontent	S	1-3
Fi	gures	and Tables	1-4
E	cecutiv	e summary	1-5
1.	Inti	oduction	1-6
2.	Me	thodology (ACWG WQRA)	2-1
	2.1	Data Collection	2-2
	2.2	Develop assessment team	2-5
	2.2	1 Engagement and liaison to Gate 2	2-5
	2.3	WQRA draft	2-6
	2.3	1 Consequence ratings	2-6
	2.3	2 Likelihood ratings	2-6
	2.3	.3 Data flow	2-8
	2.3	4 Limiting hazards	2-8
	2.4	Strategic WQRA draft	2-12
	2.4	1 Key workshop conclusions:	2-13
	2.5	Key assumptions and uncertainties	2-14
	2.6	Check outputs	2-14
3.	Dis	cussion of initial assessment results	3-1
	3.1	General	3-1
	3.2	Larson-Skold index	3-1
	3.3	Cryptosporidium	3-1
	3.4	Algae	3-2
	3.5	Nitrates and nitrites	3-2
	3.6	Hydrocarbons	3-2
	3.7	Parameters affecting distribution and customer acceptability	3-2
	3.8	Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS)	3-3
	3.9	Emerging hazards	3-4
	3.10	Differences in risk ratings	3-4
	3.11	Additional data collection	3-5
4.	Fur	ther work plan	4-1
	4.1	Water quality monitoring activities	4-1
			1-3

420176-MMD-LTR-ALL-RP-P-0004 DWQRA - LTR Option

4.2Future engagement4-1Appendix AWQRA OutputsA-1

# Figures and Tables

Figure 1.1: ACWG water quality risk process approach	1-6
Figure 2.1: WQ Risk Framework 5 x 5 matrix	2-1
Figure 2.2: Likelihood scoring according to breaches on an annual basis	2-7
Figure 2.3: WQ risk framework limiting hazard categories	2-9

assessment.2Table 2.2: Workshop attendees and roles2Table 2.3: Engagement activities to Gate 12Table 2.4: Limiting hazards21Table 2.5: Additional LTR limiting hazards2-1Table 3.1: Draft risk ratings – catchment stage3Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage3Table 3.3: Limiting hazards data collection recommended for Gate 33	Table 2.1: Summary of risk data collected in Gate 2, as used to inform the drinking water risk	
Table 2.3: Engagement activities to Gate 12-1Table 2.4: Limiting hazards2-1Table 2.5: Additional LTR limiting hazards2-1Table 3.1: Draft risk ratings – catchment stage3-4Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage3-4	assessment	2-4
Table 2.4: Limiting hazards2-10Table 2.5: Additional LTR limiting hazards2-11Table 3.1: Draft risk ratings – catchment stage3-0Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage3-0	Table 2.2: Workshop attendees and roles	2-5
Table 2.5: Additional LTR limiting hazards2-1Table 3.1: Draft risk ratings – catchment stage3-4Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage3-4	Table 2.3: Engagement activities to Gate 1	2-5
Table 3.1: Draft risk ratings – catchment stage       3-4         Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage       3-4	Table 2.4: Limiting hazards	2-10
Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage	Table 2.5: Additional LTR limiting hazards	2-12
	Table 3.1: Draft risk ratings – catchment stage	3-4
Table 3.3: Limiting hazards data collection recommended for Gate 3	Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage	3-4
	Table 3.3: Limiting hazards data collection recommended for Gate 3	3-5

# **Executive summary**

The Drinking Water Quality Assessment Report is a technical supporting document prepared to support the Gate 2 submission report to the Regulator's Alliance for Progressing Infrastructure Development (RAPID) for the Thames to Affinity Transfer (T2AT) Strategic Regional Option (SRO) scheme.

Technical Supporting Document Ca covers the water quality considerations of the T2AT Lower Thames Reservoir (LTR) option. Limiting hazards and their associated risk scores have been considered for this option in the form of a Water Quality Risk Assessment (WQRA). This WQRA has been drafted in a dedicated All Companies Working Group (ACWG) approved spreadsheet tool and reviewed in a collaborative strategic WQRA workshop.

Limiting hazards are defined as any parameter that is likely to drive the development of the SRO option. Throughout the WQRA process, the list of limiting hazards for each option has been reviewed and refined to give a representative, high-level view of the parameters which are likely to need treatment at this early stage of design. The WQRA process has also identified data gaps and residual risk considerations that can now be addressed moving forward into Gate 3. This will ensure a more detailed overview of the water quality risks associated with each option and therefore enable a more informed treatment process design.

Results from the Gate 2 water quality risk assessment has confirmed the engineering concept design of this option at this stage. Key Gate 1 workshop outcomes have been incorporated into the Gate 2 WQRA process and concept design. Further data requirements and sampling location adjustments have been identified and communicated for inclusion in the SRO water quality monitoring program going forward to Gate 3.

## 1. Introduction

- 1.1 This technical supporting document accompanies the Gate 2 submission to RAPID for the Thames to Affinity Transfer (T2AT) SRO Lower Thames Reservoir transfer option (LTR). This option was formerly known as the Lower Thames Reservoir Transfer 2a option (LTR2a) in Gate 1. The report covers the water quality considerations of the scheme, which have been analysed in the form of a Water Quality Risk Assessment (WQRA).
- 1.2 A full description of the option is provided in Technical Supporting Document A2a of the Gate 2 submission, the Concept Design Report (CDR). A schematic diagram is provided within the WQRA outputs in Appendix A of this technical supporting document.
- 1.3 The WQRA process has been developed by the All Companies Working Group (ACWG) as a strategic semi-quantitative water quality risk assessment from source to supply to determine the impact of new Strategic Regional Option (SRO) schemes on drinking water quality. More specifically to this SRO, the LTR WQRA has been completed to assess the treated water quality risks associated with transfer of water from a Thames Water donor zone to an Affinity Water recipient supply zone. This risk assessment would therefore help inform the design and development of the option and ensure no deterioration in the water quality of the supply zone. The Gate 2 water treatment design for the LTR option has been updated from the Gate 1 design by considering the outputs from the WQRA process, as detailed in the Gate 2 CDR.
- 1.4 The purpose of this technical supporting document is to summarise the Gate 2 WQRA process from methodology through to results. The ACWG Water Quality Risk Framework Report<sup>1</sup> has been used to guide the risk assessment and splits the WQRA process into 5 stages, as seen in Figure 1.1.

#### Figure 1.1: ACWG water quality risk process approach



Source: ACWG Strategic WQ Risk Framework Report

1.5 For Gate 1, relevant data was collected in the form of Drinking Water Safety Plans (DWSPs) and Environment Agency (EA) water quality monitoring catchment data. This information was built upon in Gate 2 with the inclusion of water quality data from the SRO water quality monitoring programme. This updated data set was used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> B19589BJ-DOC-001 Rev 06 ACWG WQ Risk Framework Report – Final (Strategic WQ Risk Framework FINAL Report) | 19/01/21 |

to populate the WQRA spreadsheet tool for the LTR option and helped determine the relevant hazards. Following this, the risks of these hazards to drinking water safety were analysed and a draft WQRA for the LTR option was produced. An assessment team for reviewing the draft WQRA was then assembled, consisting of water quality representatives and project stakeholders from both Affinity Water and Thames Water. The draft was assessed in a collaborative strategic WQRA workshop where option-specific hazards, their risk ratings and associated mitigation techniques were discussed and agreed upon. The outputs of the workshop included identification of any data gaps, residual risk considerations and a fully populated WQRA spreadsheet.

- 1.6 In summary, the Gate 2 WQRA for the LTR option confirmed the concept treatment design proposed in Gate 1 and from the data available, has identified no drinking water quality parameters that pose a risk to consumers in the Affinity Water region. It should be noted however that there are still data gaps, particularly with emerging hazards and therefore further analysis is required for Gate 3.
- 1.7 Sections 3 and 4 detail the actions to be completed for Gate 3 that will allow for a more comprehensive understanding of the water quality risks going forward. The WQRA is an iterative process and as further information becomes available, it is expected that the option and associated risk assessment will be developed in greater detail.

# 2. Methodology (ACWG WQRA)

- 2.1 The process of undertaking the steps outlined in Figure 1.1 is detailed in sections 2.1– 2.6. The steps taken to complete the LTR WQRA have been guided and organised by the responsible lead technical author, Mott MacDonald. As suggested in the ACWG WQ Risk Framework Report, this party is responsible for collecting, collating, and analysing water quality risk data to provide an initial draft of the WQRA for each defined option within the SRO. The party is also responsible for convening the Strategic Water Quality Risk Assessment workshop to review and develop the risk assessment. This review must be completed to the agreement of all Water Companies affected by the SRO. The framework states a WQRA should be completed for each materially different option at each RAPID stage gate, with the resulting risk assessment remaining a live document to eventually be overtaken by the development of a drinking water safety plan (DWSP) in line with DWI regulations.
- 2.2 The WQ Risk Framework provides a strategy for completing the assessment of water quality risks based on existing water company risk assessment techniques. This has allowed for an easier integration of existing risk assessment data into the WQRAs. For example, the approach outlined adopts a 5 x 5 matrix of hazard likelihoods and consequences, seen in Figure 2.1, that aligns with the scoring system used by water companies.



#### Figure 2.1: WQ Risk Framework 5 x 5 matrix

Source: ACWG Strategic WQ Risk Framework Report - Jacobs

2.3 A key consideration in the methodology recommends focusing on only the limiting hazards likely to affect the development of an option design. These limiting hazards are defined within the WQ Framework as:

"Hazards and hazardous events which are most likely to drive the development and/or acceptability and/or viability of the SRO or water supply scheme"

- 2.4 This definition has been produced in recognition of the need to complete strategic, high level WQRAs appropriate for the conceptual development of options. As there are numerous waterborne pathogens and chemicals that could affect drinking water wholesomeness, as defined in the UK GOV Water Supply Regulations 2016 Part 3 2, the practical suggestion is to consider the few that are limiting. That is, where the magnitude of risks and their required mitigation determines the design of treatment. This allows for a more focussed assessment of risks, better aligned with the design development and data types and availability at early stages of RAPID gate analysis.
- 2.5 The methodology undertaken for this SRO therefore closely follows that set out in the Framework Report. There were however a few deviations completed during the T2AT WQRAs:
  - Standardising consequence ratings described in section 2.3.1
  - Water quality assessment team at this high-level stage, it did not seem appropriate to request full engagement of all SRO stakeholders in the workshop. The workshop consisted of Affinity Water and Thames Water representatives and only key Mott MacDonald consultants from the project team. However, it is understood full engagement of all stakeholders including regulatory bodies is required moving forward to fulfil the ACWG requirements.
- 2.6 It is anticipated that moving through future gates, the WQRAs will continue to follow ACWG methodology as further information becomes available and the LTR option is developed.
- 2.7 To complete the risk assessment, a strategic WQRA spreadsheet tool was used to capture the risks associated with hazards across seven stages from catchment through to consumer. Each stage contains a pre-mitigated risk section and post-mitigated risk section, with space for suggested controls, residual risk considerations and actions. Each stage also contains a data capture section to list the sources and certainty of data utilised. The results of the LTR workshop can be seen in Appendix A.

# 2.1 Data Collection

2.8 To best inform the LTR WQRA and therefore support option design considerations, data relevant to the option catchment, abstraction location, distribution networks and consumer regions were collected. As the LTR option contained existing storage capacity at Harefield service reservoir, data relevant to the storage reservoir was also collected to determine any risks currently present. Information on the hazard reduction capacity of the existing lver water treatment works was collected in Gate 1, so inferences could be made as to the reduction capacity of similar, new water

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations 2016 | 2016 No.614 | 26/05/16 | UK GOV

treatment works. These inferences were maintained in the Gate 2 WQRA process.

- 2.9 A list of required data was produced and distributed to Affinity Water and Thames Water. Where possible, updates of the DWSP data collected in Gate 1 were requested to inform risk ratings across all stages in conjunction with water quality monitoring data sets. The appropriateness of the data selected to represent each LTR option stage was reviewed and confirmed during the WQRA workshop, and their certainty assessment reflected in the WQRA spreadsheet function. A summary of the data collected for the Gate 2 WQRAs can be seen in Table Table 2.1, including where assumptions and inferences were made. For example, the Affinity Water Iver WTW DWSPs listed in the treatment stages were collected and used to infer WTW risk reduction capacities. This is expanded upon in section 2.3.2.
- 2.10 At the catchment stage, DWSP data was used in conjunction with water quality monitoring data taken by Thames Water at the Datchet intake on the River Thames. For the Wraysbury Reservoir abstraction stage, DWSP data was analysed in conjunction with Wraysbury water quality monitoring data at 1m depth. These data sets contained extensive information for certain parameters over the last 5 years, but do not cover all the parameters recommended for Gate 3 DWQA studies.
- 2.11 The LTR option is designed to have storage at Harefield and as such, relevant DWSP data was requested. Four DWSPs were available for analysis, each representing one of the existing service reservoir chambers. All four DWSPs were reviewed in Gate 1 and as all were similar in their risk ratings, the Reservoir 3 West data was chosen. This DWSP had a small number of parameters with comparably higher risks and was therefore chosen to represent the storage risks on a worst-case scenario basis. This scoring has been retained in Gate 2.
- 2.12 It should be noted that there is an on-going multi-SRO water quality monitoring programme with monitoring locations on the River Thames, as agreed by the EA and Natural England. At the time of undertaking the WQRA for Gate 2, a multi-SRO programme monitoring suite was not present at Datchet intake and only algae monitoring was being carried out at Wraysbury as part of the multi-SRO programme. In addition to the Thames Water's water quality monitoring data taken at these locations, it was agreed during the Gate 2 process that further monitoring should take place, with the anticipation that the data collected would be used for the reassessment of drinking water quality risks during Gate 3. The Thames Water DWSPs and water quality monitoring data used had the advantage of reflecting hazard level trends from at least the last five years which would account for seasonal parameter concentration changes and negate the effects of acute pollution events on risk rating averages. However, these data sets do not cover all the drinking water quality parameters highlighted for study in the WQRA and so should be supplemented by the SRO water quality monitoring programme data going forward.

#### Table 2.1: Summary of risk data collected in Gate 2, as used to inform the drinking water risk assessment

	Catchment	Abstraction	Raw Water Conveyance	Treatment	Storage	Distribution	Consumer
Lower Thames Reservoir	Thames Water Datchet Intake Catchment DWSP & WQ monitoring Atkins Suite 5 at Sunnymeads intake Affinity Water PFAS monitoring at Sunnymeads Affinity WQ monitoring at Windsor Island	Thames Water Wraysbury Reservoir DWSP Thames Water WQ monitoring at 1m depth; CEH algae flow cytometry data	>	Affinity Water Iver Treatment DWSP and inference	Affinity Water Harefield Reservoir 3 West Storage DWSP	Affinity Water Ickenham/Denham Distribution DWSP (Includes Harefield reservoir)	Affinity Water Ickenham/Denham Consumer DWSP (Includes Harefield reservoir)
Notes	DWSP updated with new data since Gate 1 analysis New data collected in Gate 2 New data collected in Gate 2 New data collected in Gate 2	DWSP updated with new data since Gate 1 analysis	>	Maintained from Gate 1	Maintained from Gate 1	Maintained from Gate 1	Maintained from Gate 1

#### 2.2 Develop assessment team

2.13 The ACWG Risk Framework report states that an assessment team should be convened to include representatives from any water company affected by the SRO. Therefore, staff who provided information during data collection; had experience in water quality risk assessments or were involved in the conceptual design and intended operation of the SRO were invited to participate in reviewing the WQRAs. Appropriate representatives from water quality teams were included in the workshop, as seen in Table 2.2, to ensure valuable insight was contributed.

Organisation	Attendee Role	
Affinity Water	Strategic asset manager for non-infra and water quality	
Thames Water	Lead scientist	
Thames Water	Water quality strategy and assurance manager	
Mott MacDonald	T2AT technical lead	
Mott MacDonald	Senior process engineer	
Mott MacDonald	Process engineer	

#### Table 2.2: Workshop attendees and roles

#### 2.2.1 Engagement and liaison to Gate 2

2.14 Specific engagement activities undertaken for Gate 2 can be seen in Table 2.3. It should be noted the WQRA process for the LTR option was completed in conjunction with the T2AT Beckton Reuse Indirect option WQRA and therefore many engagement activities covered both options.

Table 2.3: Engagement	activities	to	Gate 1	
-----------------------	------------	----	--------	--

Activity Date Organisation		Organisations involved	Purpose
Water quality data requests	31/01/22	Affinity Water, Thames Water	Updated DWSP water quality data was requested to inform the WQRA draft risk ratings.
Pre-workshop meeting	31/01/22	Affinity Water, Thames Water, Mott MacDonald	To outline the WQRA process and workshop expectations.
LTR pre-workshop correspondence including a workshop preparation PowerPoint	04/02/22	Affinity Water, Thames Water, Mott MacDonald	To prepare for the WQRA workshop by providing: • An introduction to WQRAs • An overview of the transfer options progressed from Gate 1 • A summary of the data collated in Gate 2 • A methodology for the WQRA draft • A workshop plan.
LTR WQRA workshop	10/02/22	Affinity Water, Thames Water, Mott MacDonald	To conduct a review of the drafted WQRA for the LTR SRO option.

Liaison with water quality teams	Ongoing	Affinity Water, Thames Water, Mott MacDonald	To ensure changes to design are deemed appropriate by the Water Quality teams at both Thames Water and Affinity Water.
Liaison with DWI	Ongoing	Drinking Water Inspectorate, Affinity Water, Thames Water, Mott MacDonald	To provide an early draft of the Drinking Water Quality technical supporting document for comment, before formal submission of the Gate 2 report.

#### 2.3 WQRA draft

2.15 Drafting the LTR water quality risk assessment consisted of several stages and revisions to prepare it adequately for review in the workshop. The initial stage involved collecting and processing the water quality data, then inputting the draft likelihood ratings and finally ensuring the risk scores flowed appropriately across all seven WQRA stages from catchment through to consumer.

#### 2.3.1 Consequence ratings

- 2.16 To ensure consistency across all stages and options in Gate 1, a list was produced that standardised the consequence ratings of each hazardous parameter. The ratings were based on information sourced from the WHO Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality<sup>3</sup> and followed the 5x5 risk matrix system of grading consequences.
- 2.17 The ratings were built on the assumption that the hazards were present above the limits set by the Water Safety Regulations 2016 (WSR2016) and the effects would therefore range from "non-health risk indicator" to "aesthetic" impacts to "health impacts". Where no WSR2016 limits were available, the consequence ratings were chosen assuming the hazard was present at a concentration high enough to attain the most severe consequence category possible, as seen in Figure 2.1. For example, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) has no WSR2016 limit, but can cause the production of disinfection by-products and therefore earns a consequence rating of 4. This rating is for health risk indicators, even though DOC does not inherently classify as a 'health risk', nor does it cause purely 'aesthetic' consequences. The consequence ratings standardised in Gate 1 were maintained and input into the LTR WQRA for Gate 2.

#### 2.3.2 Likelihood ratings

- 2.18 Following the consequence ratings, the draft likelihood ratings were determined based on the water quality data and DWSP data listed in Table 2.1 and input into the spreadsheets.
- 2.19 For the catchment stage, water quality monitoring data from Thames Water at Datchet intake was reviewed and expert judgment used to assess the likelihood of a parameter breaching the WSR2016 limits. The likelihood scoring was based on how often the parameter historically breached the WSR2016 limits on an annual basis, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>Guidelines for drinking-water quality: fourth edition incorporating the first addendum</u> | 2017 | Geneva: World Health Organization | Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

outlined in Figure 2.2, taken from the ACWG WQ Risk Framework.

Level	Likelihood <i>during SRO operation</i> – example definitions	Consequence
1	Very unlikely / rare	No impact, >50% PCV, insignificant
2	Unlikely / possibly within 5 years	Low impact, single PCV, DWI event level1,2, minor compliance
3	Moderate / possibly within 3 years	High impact, multiple PCV, DWI event level 3, aesthetic impact
4	Likely to occur once per year	Serious impact, precautionary advice, DWI event 4, major regulatory
5	Almost certain / Likely to occur > once this year	Major impact, precautionary advice, DWI event 5, water unpotable, health impact

Figure 2.2: Likelihood scoring according to breaches on an annual basis

Source: ACWG Strategic WQ Risk Framework Report

- 2.20 This draft likelihood score was then combined with the fixed consequence rating to produce a final risk score, which was reviewed against the DWSP score from the Thames Water Datchet & Eton catchment DWSP. If these did not match, they were highlighted for discussion in the WQRA workshop, and the outcome of these discussions is seen in section 3.10. An identical process was followed for the abstraction stage, by reviewing Wraysbury Reservoir water quality monitoring data at 1m depth and algae flow cytometry data against the Thames Water Wraysbury Reservoir DWSP. For the remainder of the stages, risk ratings were drafted based on the relevant DWSPs.
- 2.21 For certain parameters where no data was available, but the hazard was deemed limiting, assumptions were made as to likelihoods based on expert opinion. An example of this is the "Trihalomethane formation potential" parameter that was deemed high risk until the treatment stage where the likelihood would fall once mitigated through organics removal. Other parameters in the catchment that required expert opinion to score included odour, taste, and viruses. There were a few parameters with no data available in the abstraction stage and these were scored according to the method set out in 2.3.3.
- 2.22 Where possible, likelihood ratings in the treatment stage were reduced between pre and post mitigation based on hazard reduction capacity in the existing lver water treatment works. It was assumed the treatment stage data sourced from the lver WTW DWSP would be like that of a new WTW located within the same region.

However, a point raised in the Gate 1 pre-workshop meeting suggested the existing lver WTW DWSP used to infer hazard reduction capacity in the treatment stage was not truly reflective of standard reduction capacity due to operational constraints at the time. Therefore, in these specific incidences, expert opinion was instead used to determine the effectiveness of control measures on hazard reduction. These assumptions were also applied during the WQRA drafting stage of Gate 2, with the knowledge they would be reviewed and agreed upon in the WQRA collaborative workshop.

2.23 Combined with the standardised consequence ratings, the likelihood ratings populated each WQRA spreadsheet with overall risk scores for each parameter at every stage.

#### 2.3.3 Data flow

- 2.24 Having populated the risk assessment with risk scores, gaps in data for certain stages or variations in scores between adjacent stages were evident. Therefore, to ensure a sensible flow of risk scores from catchment through to consumer, the data available was merged according to the following rules:
  - Where no data was available for a particular stage of the WQRA, the risk rating
    was carried forward from an upstream stage where this data was available. This
    was particularly relevant during the raw water conveyance stage where no data
    was available, but it was anticipated that risk scores would not vary from the
    abstraction stages.
  - For certain parameters where the risk rating increased unexpectedly from an upstream to a downstream stage, this transition was retained and discussed in the workshop. For example, the distribution network surrounding Harefield has occasionally shown historic trends of depositing iron into the water supply due to pipe corrosion and so the parameter likelihood increased post-treatment in the distribution stage.

#### 2.3.4 Limiting hazards

- 2.25 An initial review of the LTR option indicated that at a minimum, the hazardous parameters that should be considered for analysis in the WQRA included pathogens, cryptosporidium, turbidity, pesticides, and metals as these parameters are key to developing the design of a water treatment works.
- 2.26 Following this, the ACWG Water Quality Risk Framework Report recommends including limiting hazards from the following groups associated with raw water transfers, seen in Figure 2.3:
  - o Pathogens
  - Acceptability due to change in chemistry
  - Acceptability due to taste and odour
  - Pesticides

- Nitrate/nitrite
- Change in metal types and form
- Disinfection by-product formation potential

Type of SRO -> Likely limiting hazards	Reservoir source	Ground water source	Influence of sewage	Raw water transfer	Treated water transfer
Pathogens – e.g. Cryptosporidium, viruses	~	~	~	~	~
Emerging hazards – e.g. nitrosamines, 1,4-dioxane, PFAS	~	~	~		
Acceptability due to change in chemistry - e.g. alkalinity	~	~	~	~	~
Acceptability - taste and odour	~	~	~	~	~
Pesticides – e.g. metaldehyde	~		~	~	
Nitrate/Nitrite		~	~	~	
Corrosion potential					~
Change in metal types and form	~	~		~	
Disinfection byproduct formation potential	~		~	~	~

#### Figure 2.3: WQ risk framework limiting hazard categories

2.27 Taking at least one limiting hazard from each of these categories, the list of applicable limiting hazards seen in Table 2.4 was produced.

Source: ACWG Strategic WQ Risk Framework Report

#### Table 2.4: Limiting hazards

Limiting hazard	Limiting hazard category	Limiting hazard justification
Escherida Coli Pathogens		E. Coli to be standard limiting hazard covering pathogens and is considered the most suitable indicator of faecal contamination. E. Coli is likely to drive the development of the water supply scheme due to being an indicator of health risks.
Cryptosporidium	Pathogens	Limiting hazard because the parameter is a microbiological contaminant uniquely treated. Cryptosporidium is likely to drive the development of the water supply scheme due to associated high health risks. Traditional methods of pathogen treatment are not effective against cryptosporidium.
Iron	Change in metal types and form	Naturally occurring limiting hazard requiring removal. Iron is likely to drive the development of the water supply scheme due to natural abundance.
Manganese	Change in metal types and form	Naturally occurring limiting hazard requiring removal. Manganese is likely to drive the development of the water supply scheme due to natural abundance.
Sulphate	Acceptability	Limiting hazard because sulphate is likely to drive the acceptability of the water supply scheme by consumers due to its effect on taste. Possibility of sulphate concentrations changing and impacting on water perception when water is supplied from a new catchment. Due to the close control of Larson-Skold index required as a corrosivity indicator, a combination of sulphate, chloride and alkalinity should be assessed as limiting hazards.
Trihalomethanes (THM)/THM Formation Potential	Disinfection by-product formation potential	Limiting hazard because parameter is likely to drive the viability of the water supply scheme due to introduction of disinfection by-product (DBP) health risks. DBPs would be formed through the disinfection process at the new water treatment works.
Nitrate	Nitrate/nitrite	Limiting hazard requiring removal as nitrate is likely to drive the development/viability of the water supply scheme due to increasing formational potential of nitrite and associated health risks.
Nitrite	Nitrate/nitrite	Limiting hazard requiring removal as nitrite is likely to drive the development/viability of the water supply scheme due to associated health risks.
Pesticides: total	Pesticides	Limiting agricultural chemical hazard requiring removal. Pesticides are likely to drive the development/viability of the water supply scheme due to associated high health risks.
Benzo(a)pyrene	Chemical hazard	Limiting hazard as likely to drive the development of the water supply scheme due to associated high health risks.
Dirty/discoloured water	Acceptability	Limiting hazard because parameter is likely to drive acceptability of water supply scheme by consumers and therefore requires removal.

Odour	Acceptability	Limiting hazard because parameter is likely to drive acceptability of water supply scheme by consumers and therefore requires removal. The transfer of water from a Thames Water zone to an Affinity Water zone could lead to customers experiencing a change in perception of their water, therefore it is assumed that odour is a key factor in the requirement for final water conditioning to Affinity Water standards.
Taste	Acceptability	Limiting hazard because parameter is likely to drive acceptability of water supply scheme by consumers and therefore requires removal. The transfer of water from a Thames Water zone to an Affinity Water zone could lead to customers experiencing a change in perception of their water, therefore it is assumed that taste is a key factor in the requirement for final water conditioning to Affinity Water standards.
Change in hardness/alkalinity	Acceptability due to a change in chemistry	Limiting hazard because parameter is likely to drive the acceptability of the water supply scheme by consumers. Catchment hardness and alkalinity may be different to that in the consumer region and therefore water supply may require conditioning. Due to the close control of Larson-Skold index required as a corrosivity indicator, a combination of sulphate, chloride and alkalinity should be assessed as limiting hazards.
Change in source type (e.g. surface - groundwater)	Acceptability	Limiting hazard because parameter is likely to drive the acceptability of the water supply scheme by consumers. Assumption that reliance on groundwater supplies in Affinity Water zones will have to reduce in future and therefore reliance on surface water (via transfers) will increase, making this hazard a relevant consideration. The transfer of water from a Thames Water zone to an Affinity Water zone could lead to customers experiencing a change in perception of their water, therefore it is assumed that this parameter is a key factor in the requirement for final water conditioning to Affinity Water standards.
Pathogens - Bacteria, Viruses, Protozoa	Pathogens	This parameter is to be a standard limiting hazard covering viruses and therefore requiring disinfection. Viruses are likely to drive viability of water supply scheme due to associated health risks.
Dissolved organic carbon	Disinfection by-product formation potential	Limiting hazard because parameter is likely to drive the development/viability of the water supply scheme and therefore requires removal (e.g. activated carbon). Organic carbon increases the formational potential of DBPs and therefore introduces associated health risks.
Chloride	Acceptability	Limiting hazard because chloride is likely to drive the acceptability of the water supply scheme by consumers due to its effect on taste. Possibility of chloride concentrations changing and impacting on water perception when water is supplied from a new catchment. Due to the close control of Larson-Skold index required as a corrosivity indicator, a combination of sulphate, chloride and alkalinity should be assessed as limiting hazards.
Turbidity	Acceptability	Turbidity is likely to drive the development of the water supply scheme, specifically plant design and operability. It is likely to reduce the acceptability of the water supply scheme by consumers and therefore requires removal.

2.28 Any further LTR-specific water quality hazards deemed likely to drive the development and/or acceptability and/or viability of the SRO or water supply scheme were then assessed. These limiting hazards were determined using existing DWSPs and water quality monitoring data sets. By choosing parameters that were either high risk in existing DWSPs; above WSR2016 limits or could not be mitigated by the treatment technology required for another limiting hazard, a list of the key parameters for the LTR option was produced. These additional limiting hazards are shown in Table 2.5. The key parameters were reviewed and confirmed during the collaborative WQRA workshop, utilising the expert knowledge of water quality representatives from both Affinity Water and Thames Water. The 'hydrocarbons' limiting hazard was highlighted in the workshop as an additional parameter for inclusion in the WQRAs going forward.

Limiting hazard	Limiting hazard justification
Lead	Limiting hazard requiring control as lead is likely to drive the development/viability of the water supply scheme due to associated health risks. Distribution/consumer zone identified as being at risk from lead so currently receives orthophosphate dosed water.
Ammonium	Limiting hazard as likely to drive the development/viability of the water supply scheme and therefore requiring review of chlorine dosing.
Algae	Naturally occurring limiting hazard requiring removal (e.g. through clarification and RGF, or through membrane filtration). Algae is likely to drive the development of the water supply scheme due to natural abundance and ability to impact water treatment capacity at WTWs; customer acceptability (taste/odour) and human health (certain algae can be damaging to human health).
Aluminium	Limiting hazard as likely to drive acceptability of water supply scheme by consumers.
Metaldehyde	High risk rating in catchment and is assumed to be a limiting agricultural chemical to be considered in the WQRA process. However, metaldehyde use is set to be outlawed from the end of March 2022, so it is assumed that by the time this SRO is implemented metaldehyde will be a less relevant hazard.
Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS)	Identified during Gate 2 pre-workshop meeting as emerging hazard of concern.
Hydrocarbons	To be standard limiting hazard covering hydrocarbons and requiring removal. Hydrocarbons are likely to drive the development/viability of the water supply scheme due to associated high health risks.

#### Table 2.5: Additional LTR limiting hazards

#### 2.4 Strategic WQRA draft

2.29 The ACWG guidance states a collaborative workshop between all SRO stakeholders must be completed to fulfil the recommendation outlined in section 7 (RAPID) of the DWI Guidance Note on Long Term Planning for the Quality of Drinking Water Supplies <sup>4</sup>. The first iteration of this workshop contained high level analysis of the risks associated with each option and the Gate 2 iteration built upon this with more detailed analysis, using updated data sets and a team of experts with a more developed understanding of the LTR option.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>Guidance note: Long term planning for the quality of drinking water supplies</u> | Guidance to water companies | June 2020 | Drinking Water Inspectorate

- 2.30 The workshop began with an introduction to Water Quality Risk Assessments and a summary of the LTR option. The WQRA draft methodology and updates since Gate 1 were then discussed before moving onto the LTR WQRA, reviewed using the spreadsheet tool. The first step of the WQRA involved a data review to confirm if the data collected for each option was representative of the actual hazards present.
- 2.31 Next, the spreadsheets were filtered to show limiting hazards chosen during drafting. The list of limiting hazards was discussed and agreed to be representative of the water quality risks faced by the scheme. However, towards the end of the workshop, it was agreed benzo(a)pyrene was not representative of other hydrocarbon hazards and so an extra 'Hydrocarbons' limiting hazard was added to this list. Hydrocarbons and benzo(a)pyrene were deemed by those present to be likely to drive the development of an option and therefore both were retained as limiting hazards.
- 2.32 Having identified the relevant limiting hazards, the drafted likelihood scores of all parameters were then reviewed across all stages. Where necessary, scores were updated based on attendees' expert opinions. During this likelihood review, appropriate control measures were discussed for each limiting hazard and updated accordingly. Where applicable, residual risk considerations were noted, and actions listed. These actions detailed the treatment technologies to be included in the option design and where further information was required for WQRA analysis in Gate 3.

#### 2.4.1 Key workshop conclusions:

- Further water quality data is required for the Gate 3 WQRA, particularly from the Wraysbury Reservoir abstraction location
- The SRO water quality monitoring programme should be updated to include data gathering at Wraysbury reservoir
- The SRO water quality monitoring programme should be updated to include data gathering at Datchet intake
- Customer engagement would be key in reducing the risk of acceptability issues. Consumer research for changes in source type is ongoing and the results will tie into the next RAPID gated stage of the drinking water quality assessment process
- Chloride, sulphate, and alkalinity need to be considered in the risk analyses as they are foundational in understanding the Larson-Skold index
- 4-log removal or inactivation of cryptosporidium must be considered in the LTR option treatment design. Wraysbury Reservoir will provide sufficient attenuation of cryptosporidium in conjunction with the conventional treatment process outlined in the Gate 2 concept design to achieve 4-log removal.
- According to the distribution DWSPs around the Harefield area, dirty/discoloured water risks associated with iron and aluminium deposits increase in the distribution network. These existing risks are currently monitored and managed and would not change with the addition of the LTR option. They are reflected in the medium scores given to aluminium, iron, and dirty/discoloured water in the distribution stage through to the consumer stage.

#### 2.5 Key assumptions and uncertainties

- 2.33 In order to progress the Water Quality Risk Assessment through Gate 2, several assumptions had to be made. These assumptions are summarised below.
- 2.34 It has been assumed the DWSP data collected in the initial stages of WQRA drafting are a good representation of the current water quality risks in the associated LTR option stages. As discussed in section 2.3.1, the consequence ratings taken from the DWSP information were standardised to control variations in ratings between water companies and stages. Where the DWSP data was altered to standardise consequence ratings, this method was checked with both Thames Water and Affinity Water and deemed to be appropriate. It is also assumed the Thames Water data collected from the Datchet intake and Wraysbury Reservoir is a good basis for approximating the future water quality risks in these locations.
- 2.35 Having assumed the data collected was reflective of the water quality risks, it was then presented during the collaborative strategic workshop for review. It was assumed that the suggestions made by the water quality experts present were accurate and the WQRA scorings were updated accordingly. Where possible, these updates were noted in the comments section of the WQRA spreadsheet tool.
- 2.36 When undergoing the WQRA workshop, opportunity was given for the water quality experts present to highlight any further limiting hazards of concern for the LTR option, on top of those listed in Table 2.4 and Table 2.5. This final list of limiting hazards therefore incorporates the limiting hazard assessment requirements outlined in the ACWG WQ Framework as stated in section 2.3.4 and is assumed to also include most drinking water quality parameters of relevance to the LTR option. The only known parameter group that has not been fully analysed in Gate 2 is the 'emerging hazards' category, which is discussed further in section 3.9.
- 2.37 Where appropriate, as discussed in section 2.3.3, the available water quality risk data was merged to ensure a coherent flow in risks from catchment through to consumer. As some data sets were not available, particularly in the abstraction stage, expert opinion was instead used to review how risks changed throughout the system. It is assumed that as more data becomes available, as discussed in section 3.11, the need for data merging will reduce.
- 2.38 Metaldehyde was included in the Gate 2 analysis as a limiting hazard due to it currently being a high-risk agricultural chemical. However, it has been outlawed from the end of March 2022 and so it is assumed that by the time this SRO is implemented metaldehyde will be a less relevant hazard.

#### 2.6 Check outputs

2.39 By reviewing and agreeing on data sources in the strategic WQRA workshop, it is assumed that all the appropriate and available water quality risk information has been identified. Where data is yet to be drawn into the assessment, this has been noted in section 3.11 with the aim of filling the identified data gaps for Gate 3. These

data gaps have been communicated for inclusion in the SRO water quality monitoring program. The water quality risk assessment itself has been used to confirm that no major changes are needed to the Gate 1 concept treatment process designs.

# 3. Discussion of initial assessment results

#### 3.1 General

- 3.1 The Gate 2 LTR WQRA confirmed the concept treatment design outlined in Gate 2. However, building on the key workshop conclusions listed in section 2.4.1, several considerations need to be made as options are progressed through the RAPID Gated process. These, along with other workshop outcomes, are discussed in sections 3.2 -3.11.
- 3.2 Considering the iterative nature of the risk assessment, supplementary data may reveal updated risks from limiting hazards and this would feed into updated design considerations. Therefore, a key outcome from the initial assessment is that additional data is needed, particularly at the Wraysbury Reservoir abstraction location, as discussed in section 3.11. Analysis of emerging hazards is also imperative moving forward to Gate 3 and is discussed further in section 3.9.
- 3.3 A PDF summary of the LTR WQRA spreadsheet reviewed during the strategic workshop can be found in section 5. This document summarises the flow of risks from catchment through to consumer and highlights the limiting hazards that should be considered and researched as the treatment design progresses through the RAPID stage gates.

#### 3.2 Larson-Skold index

3.4 In Gate 1 and Gate 2, Affinity Water representatives indicated that chloride, sulphate, and alkalinity need to be considered in the risk analyses as they are foundational in understanding the Larson-Skold index. This index is used by Affinity Water as an indicator of corrosivity in the network and therefore tracing these three parameters is an important aspect of the treatment design for the options. Where the Larson-Skold index is found to be such that corrosion is likely, water conditioning may be appropriate at the treatment works. This requirement would be confirmed in detailed design, but following further design development in Gate 2, pH control / alkalinity adjustment at the outlet of the concept WTW design has been added for close control of the Larson-Skold index.

#### 3.3 Cryptosporidium

3.5 Due to water quality events highlighted during the Gate 1 workshop, it was suggested that 4-log removal or inactivation of cryptosporidium must be achieved between abstraction and the consumer. This could be accomplished using a combination of conventional treatment and bankside storage or enhanced treatment (e.g. UV or membrane filtration). It was discussed and agreed that Wraysbury Reservoir will provide sufficient attenuation of cryptosporidium in conjunction with the conventional treatment process outlined in the concept design to achieve 4-log removal without the need for enhanced treatment.

#### 3.4 Algae

3.6 Following the Gate 1 WQRA workshop, additional data for Wraysbury Reservoir algae levels was provided and used to confirm scores given in the workshop. The workshop conclusion was that the likelihood of algae being present at Wraysbury reservoir was high and therefore at the abstraction through to treatment stages, algae presents a high risk to water quality. Since Gate 1, a more extensive data set has indicated that although algae are present, total levels (e.g. cryptophytes, cyanobacteria and green algae) are rarely present at levels of concern for human health and the treatment process proposed will provide effective treatment. A Thames Water workshop attendee confirmed Wraysbury Reservoir presents a negligible risk of toxic algae. The algae risk score was discussed accordingly in the workshop and altered to reflect a medium risk up to the treatment stage and low risk afterwards. However, it was noted a WTW in the area has had issues with processing sludge with high algae content and therefore the concept treatment design should address this.

#### 3.5 Nitrates and nitrites

3.7 The need for nitrate/nitrite treatment was reviewed in the workshop and it was decided that dedicated treatment was unnecessary. It was agreed the parameters were not present at high enough levels in the catchment and abstraction stages to warrant dedicated treatment. This was supported by statements from Thames Water indicating nitrate treatment plants were not being added to other West-London WTWs. The WQRA spreadsheet was updated to include a medium water quality risk up to the storage stage where blending in the existing Harefield service reservoir would reduce this risk to an acceptable level for consumers.

#### 3.6 Hydrocarbons

3.8 In the Gate 2 workshop, the use of benzo(a)pyrene as a limiting hazard covering hydrocarbons was reviewed. It was raised that benzo(a)pyrene is not representative of the hydrocarbons that would often be found in surface water catchment or abstraction stages because it is a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon which is mainly derived from coal-tar pitch lining on water mains. Therefore, it was agreed that a new limiting hazard for hydrocarbons should be included and a separate limiting hazard for benzo(a)pyrene should be retained. The hydrocarbons limiting hazard was set to medium risk for the catchment and pre-mitigated section of the abstraction stages to represent the likelihood of fuel leakages from boating activities in the River Thames and Wraysbury Reservoir respectively. Catchment management (fuel storage boating rules) and raw water quality monitoring at Wraysbury Reservoir are the two main mitigation measures proposed that result in a low hydrocarbons risk from the abstraction stage onwards.

#### 3.7 Parameters affecting distribution and customer acceptability

3.9 Dirty/discoloured water; odour; taste; changes in hardness/alkalinity and changes in source type are all included in the WQRA as limiting hazards which mainly impact

customer acceptability. In the workshop, the Affinity Water representative agreed that the WQRA should reflect the existing risks in the network and therefore dirty/discoloured water retained a medium risk rating in the distribution to consumer stages to reflect the scores seen in the Ickenham/Denham DWSP. Change in source type (e.g. ground to surface water) is also captured as a medium water quality risk up to the pre-mitigated consumer stage to reflect the risk that consumers may challenge the wholesomeness of their supply due to changes in the characteristics of the water they receive. Customer engagement was listed as a mitigation measure to reduce the final consumer stage score to a low risk. It was confirmed in the workshop that Affinity Water and Thames Water customer engagement studies were ongoing to capture public opinion on the possible change in water introduced by the T2AT SRO.

#### 3.8 Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS)

- 3.10 Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are a large group of manufactured organofluorine chemicals that have a wide range of industrial applications. Two examples of PFAS chemicals are PFOS (perfluorooctane sulphonate) and PFOA (perfluorooctanoic acid). They are widely used and break down slowly in the environment. PFAS have therefore been highlighted as a particularly significant emerging hazard and regulatory guidance from the DWI has emerged. In a pre-workshop consultation, Thames Water recommended the WQRA assess PFAS levels in the LTR option stages against the DWI Tier 3 Regulation 4 (2) (wholesomeness) guidance value for PFOS and PFOA of  $0.1\mu g/l^5$ . Any PFAS parameters present above this level should be highlighted as drinking water quality risks to wholesomeness of consumers' supply. Although analysis of Affinity Water data from Sunnymeads and Thames Water data taken at Datchet indicated PFAS levels were on average below the DWI Tier 3 guidance value, it was agreed in the workshop to retain PFAS as a high risk rating up to the treatment stage of the WQRA. This is because the data sets available were not extensive and once a long-term data set is established, this should be used as the basis for the PFAS assessment. It was therefore discussed in the workshop that the SRO water quality monitoring programme should include monthly monitoring of PFAS levels at locations relevant to the LTR option going forward.
- 3.11 It was also discussed whether dedicated PFAS treatment should be added into the LTR WTW concept design. It was agreed at this stage of the RAPID gated design process, dedicated treatment should not be added due to preliminary data indicating a low PFAS risk in the abstraction location and that the granular activated carbon filter (GAC) already in the Gate 2 WTW design may be effective at removing PFAS. However, as more data becomes available it essential the requirement for dedicated PFAS treatment is reviewed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Guidance on the Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations 2016 specific to PFOS (perfluorooctane sulphonate) and PFOA (perfluorooctanoic acid) concentrations in drinking water | 2021 | Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI)

#### 3.9 Emerging hazards

3.12 Due to lack of available data, many parameters considered as emerging hazards have not been analysed for the LTR option, with the exception of PFAS. However, it has been confirmed an SRO technical note on emerging hazards has been commissioned by Thames Water and will be available in summer 2022. This technical note lists substances that are under potential protection measures, foreseeable protection measures and regulator watching briefs, and will be used to develop the strategy for analysing emerging hazards in the SRO RAPID gated reviews. An early inspection of the hazards list has indicated that data sets for a significant number of the parameters listed are currently unavailable in the LTR catchment and abstraction stages. The SRO technical note will indicate which of these parameters could be monitored under an extension to the current SRO monitoring programme. During the Gate 2 process, the need to progress monitoring of emerging hazards has been discussed and this is demonstrated with the agreed inclusion of PFAS 51 in the SRO monitoring programme at Datchet intake and Wraysbury Reservoir.

#### 3.10 Differences in risk ratings

3.13 During the drafting of the catchment and abstraction stages risk scoring, several limiting hazards were highlighted for discussion in the WQRA workshop. These limiting hazards were highlighted due to a difference between the risk ratings in the DWSP at that stage and the risk ratings determined from available monitoring data, according to the method outlined in section 2.3.2. Table 3.1 and Table 3.2 detail the outcome of these discussions for the catchment and abstraction stages respectively. Using water quality data, draft likelihood scores were determined based on likelihood of breaching WSR2016 limits at consumers' taps on an annual basis as shown in Figure 2.2. This scoring method was discussed and agreed in the WQRA workshop and forms the justification for many of the final risk score decisions listed below.

Parameter	Based on water quality data	Based on DWSP	Decided upon in workshop	Justification
Nitrite	Medium	High	Medium	Breached WSR2016 limits at consumers' taps 0 times since 2017 = likelihood of 2 = medium risk score
Ammonium	Medium	High	Medium	Breached WSR2016 limits at consumers' taps 3no. times since 2017 = likelihood of 4 = medium risk score
Metaldehyde	Medium	High	Medium	Metaldehyde will be outlawed from the end of March 2022, so it is assumed that by the time LTR is implemented metaldehyde will be a less relevant hazard.

#### Table 3.1: Draft risk ratings – catchment stage

Table 3.2: Draft risk ratings – abstraction stage

Р	arameter	Based on water quality data	Based on DWSP	Decided upon in workshop	Justification

Cryptosporidium	High	Medium	High	Breached WSR2016 limits at consumers' taps 4 times since 2017 = likelihood of 4 = high risk score
Manganese	Medium	Low	Medium	No data available, so changed to match abstraction stage risk score
Nitrite	Medium	High	Medium	Breached WSR2016 limits at consumers' taps 0 times since 2017 = likelihood of 2 = medium risk score
Pesticides: total	High	Medium	High	Breached WSR2016 limits at consumers' taps over 4 times since 2017 = likelihood of 4 = high risk score
Ammonium	Medium	High	Medium	Breached WSR2016 limits at consumers' taps 3no. times since 2017 = likelihood of 4 = medium risk score

#### 3.11 Additional data collection

3.14 Table 3.3 summarises the data collection suite discussed during the WQRA strategic workshop, where further recorded measurement of the parameters listed would help develop the option design. A key outcome of the WQRA workshop was agreement that, if possible, an SRO drinking water quality monitoring suite be collected at the Datchet intake in lieu of a monitoring site which was only relevant to one of the T2AT options that is no longer being progressed. It was also discussed whether additional monitoring could be implemented at Wraysbury Reservoir. The data requirements listed in Table 3.3 have been checked against the SRO water quality monitoring programme and it has been confirmed they can be monitored at the relevant locations. Of particular note is the addition of PFAS 51 monitoring at both locations which will aid in the understanding of emerging hazards trends.

LTR option stages	Limiting Hazards
Datchet intake	PFAS
	E-Coli
	Emerging hazards (see section 3.9)
Wraysbury Reservoir	E-Coli
	Iron
	Manganese
	Lead
	Benzo(a)pyrene
	Dissolved organic carbon
	Aluminium
	Emerging hazards (see section 3.9)

#### Table 3.3: Limiting hazards data collection recommended for Gate 3

# 4. Further work plan

#### 4.1 Water quality monitoring activities

4.1 The SRO water quality monitoring program, undertaken in agreement with the EA and Natural England, has been arranged to capture key water quality data required for progression of the SRO options. It has been agreed that a monitoring suite will be implemented at Datchet intake to facilitate the drinking water quality assessment of the WQRA catchment stage, and a limited suite containing targeted parameters proposed for monitoring at Wraysbury Reservoir. These data sets will be used to inform the Gate 3 water quality risk assessment and will resolve the data gaps highlighted during the Gate 1 and Gate 2 process, apart from some emerging hazards as discussed in section 3.9. The existing water quality monitoring used in the Gate 1 and Gate 2 analyses will continue to be used to inform future iterations of the WQRAs in conjunction with the SRO water quality monitoring program data.

#### 4.2 Future engagement

- 4.2 As options are further developed and a greater understanding of water quality risks is available, it will become appropriate to undertake further WQRA workshops where additional SRO stakeholders may be invited to attend for their input on option development. As stated in section 2, the Gate 2 WQRA workshop included only key members of the project development team, and this will be expanded as necessary moving forward.
- 4.3 In addition, as the SRO is developed, engagement with both Affinity Water and Thames Water will be facilitated by the SRO team. Water quality representatives will continue to be included to ensure that the design is developed in line with their expert knowledge and latest updates to Water Company policies.

# Appendix A WQRA Outputs

A summary of the LTR WQRA spreadsheet is provided in this Appendix. The risk assessment table shows the progression of risks through the supply stages from catchment to consumer for each of the limiting hazards identified.



# RAPID Gate 2 submission - Annex C



#### urce Option Drinking Water Quality Assessment Report RAPID Gate 2 submission - Annex C

			Catchysent				Reta	action		1	Raw water conveyance		Treatment				Storage		Distribution			Consumer	
Data seurce and certainly input Hide Open Election	gRazed Parameteristics and some entry Likeling	out Consequences Risk	Rok Commentary Caretral Libelihood	Consequences Residual fab	Residual risk considerations Automs Like	ethaal Consequences B	and Bak Commentary Central I	Likelbaar Genergermen Res	igend existan'nik Residual'nik samblerations durine	a Liberhaul Consequences II	A Tols Connectory Control Likelboal Connectories N	lgabel	Rak RakCommentary Central LikeDoord	Genergeneen Breidad fait	al faits considerations durings Likelihood Consequences	Rah Rah Connectory	Carinel Likelband Consequences	Recilial (s). Recilial (s) concileration duties. Likelband	Demogrammeriany Carcinel Likelik	eel Censepances Recibial (s): Recibial (s):	Anters Likelband Consequences	Rak RakConnectory Control Likel	Pear mitgeted Deal Comangements Residual (s): Residual (s): considerations ductors
Future Cal	The Article Ar	4 <b>-</b>	naturgo font (an circumstational sin an tota analose. Journal and gena antis den annel), dei ann a gena antis den annel (dei anno a service) a service)		Namera alia mashi dalami 14 dimetarka akti dalimpa Taata aka akti alia dise		te Angel view San I, nacenař kalkan na state audelik Rovins strateľ far state naglika strate spratia vie strate spratikaj spilojih		nonser alle reading bolieren Legisland of the second definition former and definitions		Na ang manahina akanakan ang Na ang manahina akanakan mgalakini	Access alle manife, delande Se deministration del anno	<ul> <li>Second Second sec</li></ul>		nerzefen szeciletele sz. w szelen ken keleszteren elementet a szelen ken keleszteren elementet a szelen ken keleszteren elementet a szelenetetetetetet a sz. keleszteren keleszteren keleszteren elementet a szelenetetetetetetetetetetetetetetetetetet	Nalathanat I Sarti Mirjan Jania Jana Karangan Ingel (Mittiganing Kilo) Mittiganing Kilo)	atricki (ingen) ( Name Ingegenetic and Fasterian Ingeletic ( Ingeletic) Indefinition ( Ingeletic) Indefinition ( Ingeletic)	Instança atteriologicanis succión, fecanda carrillo en el consecutivo de la consecutivo de la consecutivo succión que consecut	<ul> <li>A Solution of the second second</li></ul>	fucilità d'Alima Bally el Jonus de generatori - inspenso di Anna ande Malanti - inspenso di Anna ande pensorare ani da consulta da da consulta da alteritativo de anna en agranda di alteritativo de anna en agranda di	. a 4	te pre-raductive der betre app Seiner og generale for føjder andre genera	4 Bernstein al agente a tragge Marine a sua Alta agent
Cyproperition	kard comparison (Conf. 2006)     Konnel (Conf. 2007)     Konnel (Conf. 20	· -	historia esta visarillar (ar canad Maria neu Vine) (Maria Ing), Maria Interne), internetin vigo Maria Internetin Maria Maria Internetin (Maria Maria Maria Maria Maria), Maria Maria Maria Maria Maria Maria Maria Maria	к .	Namerallamadatekorasik Watajashataratatinin Wataja		eladorant usus estandi hor lana touris di to tau me i keji persenti meno etti protecti i songi para si langi. Nela ta da kenaj, lanta aramanan keji singi persebut persona si ante ata dari antegi da arama quanta chi taripa antegi da arama quanta chi taripa.		an Annan alla tunin dis sault. Mitejas Tantara anto dis. Mitejas Tantara anto dis.	· ·	Normalitie destination - a S.	A Anne alla madala anna an Alla anna anna an Anna anna anna anna anna	Markan katalahan sa api Markan katalahan sa api Markan katalahan Markan katalahan Markan Markan katalahan Markan katalahan Markan Markan katal	· · ·	And An Anni Andrif, Anni Anni Anni Anni Anni Anni Anni Ann	S Parala Danardi i Star (1997) gan perinta parateta Antara segunda Antar (1998) ganta participat	ni na	Research and a second s	n B sinder/lation 2007 program 200 autority single autority si	6. 6. A second s		6 Ha providentification de la construcción de la co	n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n
м	Nexuely proving heart-sport stread ing the physical stream at Mit, instead methodowing into king with the data to be declarated at the start-sport shifts data to be declarated.		halman sala wasilini day sama d An Gaoga Sa Milag (Mila) Salaga (Japan Mila) ya sa sa Alexandi (An Anna gunata ta With anishing site(A.	· .	Namen ville sometlig fingli Jackson av till je nit var til til till jackson av till je nit var till till till som		Na design francisco, se atta a substituto Jenes dels protogos estat a dese rettos fil a como aquesta contratigos regis hate com aquesta contratigos unativas steplicitos		Annara alia senaly a Kingh Anlara a King Anga Kingh Jan Sanara and Analysis Jan Sanara and Analysis		Marca appending danagan app	<ul> <li>Handrer ville strandig at Rough and Landow and Ref (1998).</li> <li>A. B.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Konstantini tatata menangka Konstantini menangka Konstantini Kons</li></ul>	=	nerset naminal de la constante	<ul> <li>Rechtlichensteil Rechtlichigen</li> <li>Rechtlichensteil Rechtlichigen</li> <li>Rechtlichensteile Rechtlichigen</li> </ul>	erinan saalijadar	Annung erheinisten anne Marine formalisten anne Marine	s a b a b a b a b a b a b a b a b a b a	a a second a		<ul> <li>Koran mendulum debider nge</li> <li>Koran quinte integration</li> <li>appendix</li> </ul>	Ba manufa shi qatin ta daga ta Ba da wan ba da da da ya ka sa ta sa ta a ta sa
Angerese .	Knowly moving indep learning and a potential indep learning and a moving of the second sec		Notificant ratio sciences from a some det to be one so the angle (percent annous interface), one percent of a stage). Motive 144 angle, Anderson in the and announced on a deve among Annous anguarders cite the other some approach cite the stage and the ability (cite).		Promoter valide scenaratijog filosoft desfloaten var bil jor for one vilke stree joe Travener scene of the streeping		* Salitani nia skati i in nati untore ng, mite natiti. (Paping i litir ga gan si e ha enel) ku one qual riteria. untorgenjikija		<ul> <li>Anomeralizationalije filmelji animeralization of the second statistic per frameworkshold the second</li> </ul>		No secondaria da da da secondaria da secondaria da da secondaria da second Recenderia da secondaria	N Benefic all'estimate (a Real) Beneficia antificiate antificiale In Transmontation (Real)	<ul> <li>Konstruktionstation mensense kale sette specialistic mensense sette kale sette se</li></ul>		Narada sa sa 1941a, na malaka sa	<ul> <li>Norfall/Normal 1 Normal grant</li> <li>Norfall/Normal 1 Normal grant</li> <li>Normal grant (Normal grant)</li> </ul>	ng united and stand and provided as a second s	Research of the transfer search sector of a strategic research to resolve and the search search search of the strategic research search search of the strategic research search search search search se	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	statistics from from data and the second sec		Bar you na walina dabhar aga Bar you na walina Parala astrong anna ka	to resource of apprices to drop to the second of apprices to drop to the second of apprices
lajon -	<ul> <li>Uniting function a calibrative training function for exception (or drive user sequence) with one top community due to the during one can be called a sequence of the perception and the calibrative and a sequence of the perception and the calibrative and a sequence of a standard to a second and a sequence of the second addressing is and industriative for second listed index elements private of the second listed index</li> </ul>		Northergo since lines 1, WEREINFORM Primply Hitcher 14 Angel, Jahrsten Herbilg para Adri Adre sincedi, Rak unner agnati Atri Adre sincedi, Rak unner agnati Atri Adre sincedi, Rak unner agnati Atri Adre sincedi, Rak		Preventer and an obtains of remain- prevential into an exist in a fraction and to drow unknote, straing		Northergonization (and s, Mithami (and Mithag) (Mithan (Mithag)) (Mithami Mithag) and Andre Samoni, Mit Andre agreement and an annual, Mitha Annual (Mithami (Mithami))		A sector value interior di conserva- antici di value di conserva- nici de value di conserva-		No se veloción de adaption per construir de la	Remote carlos statestini sussi antesta de la carlos a sussi antesta de la carlos	Konstruktionsteam wijnen oog Nationspeciality wijnen ookspeciality wijnen ookspeciality	<u>m</u>	metalahan dari kana dari katang pertakan pertak Pertakan pertakan	<ul> <li>Norfallbacker i Stratting on processors the second path stratting waters picture</li> </ul>	ntinaan opatijuulat s	Recursing article builds action second a strategie and strategies to exclude all of the strategies actions and affin particle strategies actions and affin particle strategies actions and affin particle strategies actions a	a a a sindepletent in MO ging gan to an anni ka son gan anni ka son anni ka son gan anni ka son an	<ul> <li>A second s</li></ul>		Busing that are seen if the second seco	A consideration of adjuster, interest and dializing scatter framework in the constant of the constant of the constant of the constant of the particul designed in terms and interest and index of the constant of the particul designed in terms and other constant of the particul designed in terms and other constant of the particul designed in terms and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other constant of the particul and other constant of the particul designed in the constant of the particul and other c
	A structure sequents writing in several sequence as load in Mary to atria- tive design sequences and a sequence sequences and that the automation leads of the load of a servery a second set of the load of the load of a servery a second set of the load of the load of a servery and Relatively the sequence set of the load of a servery and Relatively the sequence set of the load of the load of the load of the Relatively the sequence set of the load of the load of the load of the Relatively the sequence set of the load of the load of the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the Relatively the load of the load o		halihand industri han fana 1 anna 47 m an defalind inne eingli, mar e A ragi angeneer si dagli (1966 er bag). Jacobar innet group ann sin alter annetij, dan carao agenatici it terapisa warding dan carao agenatici it terapisa		Province while control in mapping designed matching for the off page (s) of the off of mapping for the off page (s) of the off of the off page (s)		endergrams faller, ins den ausbelle, Bergunde (HMP) ganz til ander som (H. Anderson ansamben ansamben ogen falle ansampatiet. Det trips angen falle ansampatiet.		S Annuar ulla contrationages debates cul for budges (c) - tanage employees angles transported angles and debates (concernation debates)		Normal State Stat	Kanaka alia sambinanga Antonia hariangga (s	<ul> <li>Moran and Moran and Moran</li> <li>Moran and Moran</li> <li>Moran</li> <li>Moran<!--</th--><th> [1]</th><th>ang manakati mang manakati kata mang mang mang mang mang mang mang mang</th><th>s Parlathansi i territtigan periopanti karangani sitelija antagalijin</th><th></th><th>a Porces and accessing single states and a constraint of the second st</th><th>A B generation of the second s</th><th>super 5 S S Station and American Station of Sec. 5 S S Stationary Control (Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec.</th><th>tulala sensis palate (up enclusive long) a star da ge</th><th><ul> <li>Ber aller state state state state and state</li></ul></th><th>a s s s la maran da desera a darga a sa sa</th></li></ul>	[1]	ang manakati mang manakati kata mang mang mang mang mang mang mang mang	s Parlathansi i territtigan periopanti karangani sitelija antagalijin		a Porces and accessing single states and a constraint of the second st	A B generation of the second s	super 5 S S Station and American Station of Sec. 5 S S Stationary Control (Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec.	tulala sensis palate (up enclusive long) a star da ge	<ul> <li>Ber aller state state state state and state</li></ul>	a s s s la maran da desera a darga a sa
1980 Promatica Presental	August - Nacional y Bartier Samuel 1980      August - Nacional y Bartier Samuel 1980      August - Nacional y August - Nacional 1980      August - Nacional Information - Nacional 1980      August - Nacional Information - Nac	4 H	Northerge also does 1, WARDHALLINE Milling L. Haven Y. Nagl. (1999) in 1984 (1994). Spechard Miller Special Intel Article Spechard Miller Special Intel Article Intel Article Special Intel Article Intel Article Intel Article Intel Article Intel Article Intel Article Intel Intel Article Intel Arti		Nanoverali te constati ting tellege Nanoverali te constati ting tellege Nanoverale del telefong personale at Nanoverale del telefong		Ka una ministra settanta ago Ka una quatri a tratta anto ago asterio		<ul> <li>Rever elle antidetteg alles Ser detaletteg alles des elles des elles</li> </ul>		No en solari for decembra general de la constance de la consta	Marcola and and and and and and and and and an	A Marine statistics and the statistical st	· ·	ni da succidad da la construcción degará la construcción degará la construcción degará la construcción degará la construcción de la constr	S Parlathered i Stratting and a single state of the strategy strat	minaan agant/walat Saturkaan 1909; 1 S	Ansange of the function of the sector of the	A b a construction of the second seco	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S		A Report statistic destation opport	<ul> <li>N</li> <li>N</li> <li>Nextman all approximation of angular</li> <li>A</li> </ul>
	decidents consists and provide the set of the set		Northegeneration (; MARINE line Ningly, nave ni lingly, ages or ; ni lingly, Ohio : Ningly, Jacobse Olivy powerite that date second, Nav		f signad, permeter with resulting inter antropy, being include the future or methode processes of Phillipse		dial-matuka sekari hini ku susis dise Juane di degli agane i kining li maka si Juang matalas Incining li maka si Matala		and the second s		Kanan majala fan akana manga Kanan majala fan akana manga Kanan majala fan akana manga	Haperi, pande alle seasting a antego, bilego alektrater an mitter pande al Martine - 2 t	Konse separation as age:     Monosition		nera de seciencia de la constitución de la constitu	a nolationati tarittiyas etter taratti karattarati ataritti ataritti	nguladumrakalasid s s	An angu dia kafai kata kana tanàna katalana ang katanya ang ana katalana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	6 Be are quele in this sector quest interest many sector (interest many sector) (interest many sector) and the sector (interest interest i	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S		Ke ene se indeal lan de la bate ny p Ke ene se part i 11 Pério autore p	s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s
Note -		· -	BUILDER OF THE AND A CONTRACT OF THE AND A CONTRACT OF THE ADDRESS		Tradition action allow trades () francisco generator within trades () and and ways, histografic distribution or methodrog processes of charter () per- licence processes of charter ()		and the field of and the state space     and the field of and the state space     after the state of the state of the state of the state     after the state of the state of the state of the state     after the state of the state of the state of the state     after the state of the stat		fasion provide the test of tes		Ar una equation detraction age Mai una equation (Printle standards Sellipsis	a reput particular de la construir de la const	Biological de la constance de	· • •	National State of the second state of the seco		atomatikationa	Backelinis por universitative Resistance of the functional and an anti- stance of the functional and and an anti- stance of the functional and and and an anti- stance of the functional and anti- stance of the functional anti-	5 S S Mantenjiantan INF gangan IA Mantenjiantan INF gangan IA Mantenjiantan III Mantenjiana III Mantenji Mantenjiana III Mantenjiana III Mante	d the generative count of the segmentation of		<ul> <li>Reasons una la vel from distribution degle</li> <li>Reasons ange anno 1978 attigle annolunge</li> </ul>	1 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Pastidan and	<ul> <li>Antibility application destination and impairing services Page desception destination or maintainer distances Page desception destinations and an associated high leaders Market and application destination and an associated high leaders Market and application destination of the associated high leaders Market and application destination destination of the associated high leaders Market and application destination d</li></ul>		A second		Annen alla smaatjog fingt staanstratig at new Karley ja Taanstratig at new Karley ja		monty for your approximation of the following of the second		Australia and a straight and a strai		Norman and the state of the sta	Proven vila strauly provi metala strauly proven site strauly provi Trautational strauly provided from the straute strauly provided from the straute str	Marcana ang Karangani Silang ang Karangani Silang ang Karangani Silang ang Karangani Silang ang Karang Silang Silang Ang Karang Silang Silang Ang Karang Silang Silang Ang Kar	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	And a second sec	A participant i tara territori parti participante di area ganto citatga canto ettorio	reinamen specifications	Rauffilis pontor tits handware Peter ange at the bank manifest sectors de bank and wills Rauffilis and at a defaute and and Rauffilis and at a defaute and and Rauffilis and at a defaute and and Rauffilis and at a defaute and Rauffilis and	s santanjana katoj pangana ka santanjana katoj pangana ka santanjang pangana katoj pangana katoj santanjan katoj sa	s sector and sector an		No erre staturifen Adrider seg- No ann gyndia Veldjaatslag	<ul> <li>K</li> <li>K</li> <li>Non-second application on degree in the second application on the second applic</li></ul>
Rennijeljuma -	<ul> <li>Vering handlin linky to the the Assignment of the anti-spip shorts for the assignment of handlines</li> </ul>		Weight and schapergine (s. No. Aurgestine San 4, MARING into King (s. augume + MARING (Marine - Ming (s. ) Journe + MARING (Marine - Ming (s. ) Journe + MARING (Marine - Aurgestine), Marine and Aurgestine - Aurgestine (S. Aurgestine), Aurgestine (S. Aurgestine), Aurgestine Aurgestine (S. Aurgestine), Aurgestine), Aurgestine (S. Aurgestine), Aurgestine (S. Aurgestine), Aurgestine (S. A	· -	Perinter with strateging straight reference activity or the war the strate law Towards and and activity		metrol, Nai anna quadra d'Attrijan     metrologi nijikojan     metrologi nijikojan     metrologi nijikoja antara kata     metrologi nijikoja antara kata     Trai anna antara d'Attrijan antara kata		Neuros alfas antas (s.g. fina) aufasta autor) da da sea (ha fina) (aufasta autor) da alfas, (aufasta autor) da alfas, (aufasta autor) da alfas,		Kana ministra dan mangara da seria da s	Manage allow secondly a fining and and an an and a second	<ul> <li>Manual sector sector</li> <li>Manual y a finge definition and the antiper sector se</li></ul>		non a fer sou (half 16, fe andre traditionalise sou andre statute statute and a source of page ( a statute of statute andre statute of statute of statute of statute of the statute statute of statute of statute of the statute statute of statute of statutes	National States and St	ny united and a second se	Antoniparteriolitaria Antoniparteriolitaria Antoniparteriolitaria Antoniparteriolitaria Antoniparteriolitaria Antoniparteriolitaria Antoniparteriolitaria Antoniparteriolitaria	Allen Warrischen/John Maria della sotta a della Allen Warrischen/John Maria della sotta a della Allen della sotta della della della Maria della sotta della della della della della Maria della della della della della della della della della Allen della d	s substantian fam konfeit ander som		<ul> <li>No one solution delates e.g.</li> <li>No one solution delates e.g.</li> <li>No one quarter del planation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>4 Non-sector of spectra to drapped</li> <li>4 Non-sector of spectra to drapped</li> <li>4 Non-sector of sector of the spectra to drapped</li> </ul>
Englisheelewal ware	<ul> <li>uniting taxofici lindy to Also file a superiality of the anticipanty where its second an addition regards where its product and addition to approximate the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of the addition of the superior addition of the addition of t</li></ul>		Weiller andrichp opping in 14		Postner alto stread (-g. frog) defaute act 10 (-j. etc. scale of the (-scale act 10 (-j. etc. scale of the 10(s))		elfelia subset for last states subset for last states states and states and states states and states		Propaga y said (managar from the gary said)     Assesses while senses() of Amage and addition and Mill and said (1.6.1%)     .		Normal Statements		A Second Se		had of Bygowork galgements set of the set o	Audiofuncti i teoritti gun Augustus fai con quale august		An and the parameter of an anatometer An anatometer of an an anatometer of an an anatometer of an an anatometer of an	With authory (H)(1):         Month hereins and hereins)           a         Building (H)(1):         Month hereins and hereins)           a         Building (H)(1):         Building (H)(1):           a         Building (H)(1):         Building (H)(1):           a         Building (H)(1):         Building (H)(1):           b         Building (H)(1):         Building (H)(1):           b <th>a deter guerrene ur pet ni ten peper a deter guerrene ur pet ni ten peper band na men pet ni ten peper band na men pet ni ten per per per per per per per per per per</th> <th></th> <th>A Reference of the second second</th> <th>A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A</th>	a deter guerrene ur pet ni ten peper a deter guerrene ur pet ni ten peper band na men pet ni ten peper band na men pet ni ten per		A Reference of the second	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
-	Regin variable from sequencing of the sequence		MARINE		Page 10 and 10 a		well-day still(16)				Marcanana and and and and and and and and an	• • • • • • •	• Management	· ·			minute spatialities and a second	A Construction of the second sec	A constraint of the second sec			A second	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
· · ·	Anny water a deal to the second of a data status in proceedings of a second of the second second of the second of the second of the second approximation of the second of the second second of the sec		No ma ganta di Malla andra Malaini		Progenil, generate all'en enventage entre entre galance antere all'enventage		Mangaselah saha salah Mangaselah saha salah Mangaselah Salah salah Mangaselah salah salah Mangaselah salah s		<ul> <li>Angel production of a second by an extension of a second by a second by a second by a second a second by a second</li></ul>		Management and and any second se	5 <sup>Fast</sup> and the set of the set o	A Management of the second sec		enchangelingen enchangelingen	a produktional i kan statistica produktional i kan statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica st statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica statistica st	minusa nguri Judat Isan kanadi Wi	A management of the second sec	A Si and a second secon	s a substantiant definition of the second se		<ul> <li>National Action of the second s</li></ul>	
Drag in hadronishing	Henry Search John Holm II. Search Holm Holm Holm Holm Holm Holm Holm Holm		No ma quart of thigh withing Alloca		e vajant "povorov načio navadnji policija povorov na je in krateva ustano drita valikaji		Beam quest-shall used as a gap is a second secon		a signal junctum mitte statute julicity operations and the meta-data status;		Maran mandra and and Maran and an and an and an	<ul> <li>Faunt sector and interface</li> <li>Provide sector and interface</li> </ul>	A manufacture and a manufactur		an church an Anna	a Norma analasi na agamang Norma analasi na agamang Norma		Annungstandel og annungstandel annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungst Annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstand Annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstandel og annungstan	<ul> <li>Marking and a second sec</li></ul>	a a a substantistication and a substantisticat		a substantial de la constantia de la con	
Desgris man yang salan panalasi	menting scare during norther on a simplified of the method by the structure is a subject to a structure of the structure is a subject to a structure of the structure of the structure of the structure and structure of the structure of the structure and structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of		No ana guad i shi kutika ani kag Katajan		fright, prost of a control or an and a control of a control discussion		<ul> <li>Normal control of the second se</li></ul>		4 frank provide all a service and all all all all all all all all all al		Maranana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang an	<ul> <li>Antipute structure</li> <li>a structure</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Messagements and an Antonio Messagement of the Antonio Message</li></ul>		nankasalahi a Mala Sakatanan Mala Sakatan Mala Sakatanan Mala Sakatan Mala Sakatanan Mala Sakatan Mala Sakatan Mala Sakatan Mala Sakatanan Mala Sakatanan Ma	a no no norma na su na na A na		Antopolitikani Manaka	<ul> <li>An and a second s</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Beneficial transmission (see a particular sector)</li> <li>Beneficial transmission (see a particular sector)</li> <li>Beneficial transmission (see a particular sector)</li> </ul>		an analysis and a second secon	
Palogen. Jantela, alcan, petera	File personaler in the a number integr leaved manage characteristic and the date is significant and Vision and integrit the calibility of and energy where the transmission front risks	· · ·	sear foto internatio separatio situapanti di assessmente Mila seno - A apuato 20 Millio antonya (di Ga	· · ·	Namberalite tradition defenses		Recharge since See 1, in dee analatis. Reis anna valuelle finn antistean rage Reis anna gearth a finn anna anna Nelson.		Martin Alia Martini Additiona (a.g. Additional Addition		Na ena secuentria al estado especi Na ena questa citatistica que con esta esta esta esta esta esta esta esta	a hende die soad handeren Ing die gebeure die die die gebeure Teamstande die ookgeg	Al unit second in the and mapping of the one quarter of second quarter of the one quarter of second quarter of the one quarter of second quarter of the one quarter o	· • =	an und an exclusion for a set of the device to by a direct sequence of the set of the se	s sector i successi de la sector para para la para sector in travente de la sector sector de la sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector de la sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la sector sector de la sector de la se	dali historiyani ( Nanisari minguna 1. Ali Manisari In Apatonyani - Kaladali I. Manisari ( Apatoni Indelia Kaladari wana hana ( Matti	Restance for Sealing and the Sealing of Sealing and S	5. 6 develop for the art Phild P gain grant the develop for the Philosophila and the philoso	s parateti i segura de actes s estatos		Kai peng sa akudi me dati bater anga Kai peng agawat ni ter pengka sasisny agang ka	ha musura al agenera su tragon fa casa ding ganadar a susalar alles su sudading papa
Destinat appelo saltan	Analysis and shall for an and supply shares and develops spacing strengthy a development of the methods (setting) and the space of the strength of the formation of potential of they set in the offsets interactions exceeded fractily factors.		perfection morphism may appreciate and the standard strength of the strength for the strength of the strength		Ananatruska onazijeg Anagi, onazistotni orterne (kaliki jez Tazanera otor dite kije)		Manuary and a set of the set of t		Manager and the second of a filling of the second of the s	· ·	Rai una separatri na dan data segar Rai una guarda chela data data data generalita	Benner ultra stranijeg trangt Handra dale jeta saveljegitetejne Handra dale jeta saveljegitetejne Handra dale jeta saveljegitetejne	Marcine construction to assume and processing to the one quantization with an entropy in the one of the transmission of the second se	· ·	panta Annanza An Mito Nanalawa An Makaga Serka Santa Angela Santa Ang	<ul> <li>Name and the second space</li> <li>Name space is the space space</li> <li>Name space is the space space space</li> </ul>		Restricted for Section 2016 Restricted for Section 2016 Restricted of the Section 2016 Rest	a a Room que de 2010 (Statistica da segura da seg	a a substantia functional and substantia		Bill one statual for Arbitrar sup. Bill one spatial for Arbitrar sup. Setting	n a a har her smuler al agreen to integra
	<ul> <li>Linting Search action (1975-1976)</li> <li>Bernippen (1986) of the solar scoping vibrate and develope separate vibration design</li> </ul>		Internet index Restriction for a linear sector of these sectors in the Restriction of the Restriction of these sectors and the Restriction of Restrict in Length - (Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of Restriction of	· •	fragest, atlente dens den projekt densetig al affect attention season		Reachard With Eliza di Singli S Bea sena 2017, Jenaping 2007 gine satista dar senelij fai sena aparli Utempin antong anjinji S		N fragmet, address/terms.term; (Insigner-termstell) all other accession conversion		Arean search in departuring Recomparative References on the search of t	N Property address from the second se	Marana manafalar na anar Marana magi Ali ana gana ang Manafala (10) (1) Manafala dan ang dala ang gana ang Manafala dan ang dala ang gana ang Manafala dan ang dala ang gana ang Manafala dan ang dala ang gana ang sa		narada savihati eta u ada sa kultura kultura sa ada sa kultura kultura sa kultura da pasa sa kultura saviji mantantikigin kultura da pasa sa kultura kultura da pasa sa kultura	Revisit Aurora i Rocinti Apro- por la posterio da sen qual a vicenza da posterio da sen qual a	nineen sainijaalee	Reading and the field of an interview and the standard and the standard an	<ol> <li>B. Backetty Market State of Lange Application of State of Lange Application of L</li></ol>	a mathaten han Apalait pola saon a sao a saong shing ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang a		Bit and stranding default any Bit and specific any specific and specific and speci	the second and approximate of the point of t
	<ul> <li>United Sector Collection in Delay Indian Sector</li> <li>Sector Sector Secto</li></ul>		Benderge see Same Same Same Same Same Same Same Sa		Neg se recentral de ages i recente de se se and address actor de la Astronomia de Address de la contra presenta de se factores de la contra de se se aductore de seg		interpretation (Collination and Colling) and and Collination and the second data and quarks in the main control data and quarks in the main control of the second quarks in the main control of the second quarks in the		<ul> <li>Anterior units initiation investor mention in the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se</li></ul>			Interpretation of contracts     Interpretation of contracts     Interpretation of contracts     Interpretation     Interpr	a managanina ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang a	1	andréngen kalak ben andrén k. Neuropa andrén k. Neuropa et alak ben kalak ben k. K.	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	minaun apat (Juda) tanahani 1995	The strap active solutions of solution is a solution of the so	<ul> <li>a monocolicitation interformatione and a monocolicitation to the monocolicitation interformation and a monocolicitation interformation and a monocolicitation interformation.</li> </ul>	a Marketin har har hardet an har bear hardet an har hardet an hardet hardet an hardet hardet an hardet hardet an hardet hard		Marine constructions depleted as a first set of the second of the sec	A summaria di plan, di misi, ani indi alcunazione di plan, di misi, ani indi alcunazione di plan, di sum di alcunazione di alcunazione di sum di alcunaz
namy .	<ul> <li>Second and a state to see a second and a sec</li></ul>		Information Sectors Sectors of Sectors and Sectors Sectors Sectors and Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors and Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Mathematical Sectors Sectors Sectors Mathematical Sectors Sectors Sectors Mathematical Sectors Mathematical Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors Sectors		Penner with a minuting strange definition of the penner between the strategy (or homes want data strategy)	5 a	Managaran Kanan (2000) Managaran (2000) Managaran (2000) Managaran (2000) Managaran (2000) Managaran (2000) Managaran (2000)	ч -	an generative state and a state of the state	· ·	Marca and a second	Terretori orbiterante la terretori Terretori della terretoria della terretoria della terretoria della terretoria della terretoria della terretoria	Kana manifesi ang Manang Kanang Kanang Kanang Kanang Kanang Manang Kanan			<ul> <li>National Strength State (Strength Strength S</li></ul>		Penggedebalantika Managadebala	- Carlo and a constraint of the second secon	<ul> <li>a sindhi ku ya ku ya</li> <li>a sindhi ku ya ku y</li></ul>		ea an saonna saonn an Saonna anns Mille	<ul> <li>Non-second adjustment ad adjustment ad adjustment ad adjustment ad adjustment adjustment ad adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment adj</li></ul>
	Knowly many limits feasible part in the          [4] and provide an addition of the          magnetic material and addition of the          material and therapic integra is also that are          additional and a set of the          additional and          additional andite          additional and          additional          additiona		industriale standies and Add serve apart of Billion anticity apartos	· ·	Neurose alite sensetijog drogt- talisatu astrbija dru navih stre (as inatrom action inte wijet)		Adalami ular nakarahan kan kan kan kan kan kan kan kan kan k		Renneralite sensel (a fing) enflate a bit ( a to sea it all to ( se harmonation its ele).		Research of a database region and a second s	<ul> <li>Benome and the second (right design of the se</li></ul>	A Security and the security of	· • 18	Nata Kana Salahan Mala Kana Salahan Nata Kana Sa	<ul> <li>No one searcher teatron app Record gestion? High searching WHICH</li> </ul>		A second se	a a Normanato (California) . A	<ul> <li>A substate for function over another and the substate for the second and the substate for the second and the second second second second second and the second second second second second and the second second second second second second and the second second second second second second second and the second se</li></ul>		Bili ann stainalf in Adhlata is ga Bili ann agustaí 17 Bhlatainig agustaí 1.	the instantion of approximate a fungation of a second and as parts.
	Long hands ling to disc anything shares     Long hands ling to disc anything shares     Long hands ling to disc anything shares		Andread value talaana (her can v ann Andread alam ay an ee raing) Andread alam ay an ee raing) Andread alam ay an ee raing) Andread alam ay an an an an an an an an Andread alam ay an an an an an an Andread alam an an an an an an an Andread alam an an Andread alam an		Nonner sonurrate alla sonala isunali nuel trate alla sonala malata artificate alla soni dis trate jan hanar sutta da fi		W Harpstone See 1, Holdes auxiliate. Rei unter unterschliche autoritate Rei unter unterschliche autoritate Bellechte		Manager and a second se		Karan samatalan akanatan nge	a balan managan gangan dan disa disa disa disa disa disa disa disa	a Managarahan sa ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana an	· · •	narada sacilitatika sa walak sacilitatika sa saka saka saka saka saka saka saka	* Participante i Recipito para este co paratto incolo con qual-		Incompactic fonderance success increases and configurations increases and conservations increases and conservation	a sum and the second se	a a b a contractor term termination source and the second se		a the core contraction of the core of the	the security of gardness to despite the control of the gardness to despite the security of the gardness the security of the se
Mandalayan .	Performance of the second s	· -	grani cit trijte unistry slok 54 Integr stranister, 1906 - 58 kilog 5 Internet Verf gran net tra die anteroj Internet granistic internet j Robert I.	· -	Manifelhyte han kenn aufwand vinn die enterfehent beit, wirk aussmahl darft Socher Anfolden in späcemeter redeliktyte wil hau eine steuert hauset		e degenise (as 1, this - intig) (require (ME year and risk de arms) Ha near qualitation (as arms) (History a)(10)(1)	2 K	Westerlands for the set of each of the set of th		Komunicipation of the second sec	Redelph to her administration of the second	Kanan mainfran se aan     Kanan mainfran se aan     Kanan mainfran se aan     Kanan mainfran se aan     Kanan se antara printing     Kanan se antara printing     Kanan se antara printing     Kanan se antara printing	· -	A The law schema have the definition of a scanned by the first schema s	- Antoneous Antoneous province and the state of the state province and the state of	Name of the Address of Table	Hereits and the second se	S 4 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	s and the second	. a 4	a No ana aparata dabatan ng aparata aparata	s a martine and a second secon
Podewally statement (PER)	with a size size or least with first data gives data by a solid large solid ground application solid graders with the first data in the first data of the gives rates and the first data if the first data of the gives rates and the solid if the first data of the solid data of the solid data if the first data of the solid data of the solid data if the first data of the solid data of the solid data of the solid data if the first data of the solid data of	x .	Additional faces a series grady structure of the series of	· .	Frequency province with research (s. p. includings) (and previously in the formation of the press) (s. p. the formation are an an antippy limited and characterization in the resistions.		Ka ann sguaintin uniterange. Sa ann sguaintin the analogue		<ul> <li>A statistic provide and a statistic of a statistic provide and a statistic of antidation and a statistic of a statistic provide a statistic of a statististic provide a statistic of a statistic provide a statistic</li></ul>		Recentration in Advancements Second		a managang kan pana			No ana apisalaha saharing Na ana apisalah saharing apisala		•	<ul> <li>A S</li> <li>B subscription and groups and subscription and groups and subscription.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>K Risidensus complete</li> <li>abbitistica complete</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Berns in other software for some software software software software</li> </ul>	. s s manufacture and a second se
quantum .	To fair on sheet fronting functional productions To a fairness teachyllawardness, hodrofy (4) and applications, hodrofy (4) and applications, hodrofy (4) applications, hodrofy (4)	· -	hir one gesal ni fil til (til ankologi sjölje) to skologi sjölse sjölse sjölse til skologi sjölse sjölse til sjölse til Baref hann	- s -	Republic aller robuster to a sur demonstrate of the standard to a sure limits, was and when the site of a dispergical data to an expose a sur- dispergical data to a sure part of automatication to a sure dispersion to a sure part of automatication to a sure part	,	e Santa ana agusta tarafa (an an agusta tarafa (an an agusta tarafa (an agusta taraf		Anatomis of a statustic second densities and a second second lists, see and a densities of any Opposities managements with a second second second densets and for loading		Noncomparing and	Autore of a collection on our of the second	3 Kanana Katalan Katal		Angenetika Sebalah Sebalah Sebalah Sebalah Sebalah Sebalah Sebalah Sebalah Seb	Rechtlichener i ber beitigen generalige weiten Kannen general untergeweitige sprijde		<ul> <li>Resemptively basis inter- sent de la construction de la construction c</li></ul>	and photosecure and photosecur	s a s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s		<ul> <li>Kommunication and allowing Mommunication and allowing Mommunication and allowing manual sectors manual sectors</li></ul>	s s s s s successive a lagran a lagran s successive a lagran s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s



